INSURANCE BROKERS ASSOCIATION OF ONTARIO

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAWS

Revised April 2014



I. INTERPRETATION

- (a) "Corporation" means Insurance Brokers Association of Ontario;
- (b) "Director" means a member of the Board of Directors;
- (c) "Affiliate Association" means a body corporate recognized by the Board of Directors pursuant to Article 27 herein.
- (d) "Financial Institution" means:
 - (i) a chartered bank;
 - (ii) a body corporate to which the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada), as amended from time to time, applies;
 - (iii) an association to which the Co-operative Credit Associations Act (Canada), as amended from time to time apples;
 - (iv) an insurance company or a fraternal benefits society to which the Insurance Companies Act (Canada), as amended from time to time, apples;
 - (v) a trust, loan or insurance corporation incorporated by or under an act of the legislature of a province;
 - (vi) a co-operative credit society incorporated and regulated by or under an act of the legislature of a province; and
 - (vii) a Caisse Populaire
- (e) For the purposes of these by-laws, an insurance brokerage is "controlled" by a Financial Institution where:
 - (i) In the case of a corporation, the shares of the corporation carrying more than fifty (50% percent of the votes for the election of directors of the corporation are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of a Financial Institution or one or more of the Financial Institution's Affiliates.
 - (ii) In the case of a general partnership, there are one or more partners consisting of a Financial Institution or one or more of a Financial Institution's Affiliates
 - (iii) In the case of a limited partnership, there is a general partner consisting of a Financial Institution and / or one or more of a Financial Institution's Affiliates; and
 - (iv) In the case of an individual, the individual is an employee of a financial Institution and/or one of a Financial Institution's Affiliates

Provided that any insurance brokerage which appears to be controlled by a Financial Institution in accordance with any of (i) to (iv) above shall not be deemed to be controlled by the Financial Institution if the insurance brokerage can establish, to the satisfaction of the Board of Directors, acting in its sole discretion, that such Financial Institution does not have de facto control over, or the ability to otherwise manipulate, the management of the affairs of the insurance brokerage. Any such determination by the Board of Directors shall be binding upon the insurance brokerage and shall remain effective during the membership year in which the determination is made.

(f) A corporation is an Affiliate of another corporation if one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or both are subsidiaries of the same corporation, or each of them is controlled by the same person, firm or other entity within the meaning of control as set forth in Article 1(e) above (with such changes as may be necessary). A corporation is a subsidiary of another corporation if:



- (i) it is controlled by:
 - (A) that other corporation
 - (B) that other corporation and one or more corporations, each of which is controlled by that other corporation; or
 - (C) two or more corporations, each of which is controlled by that other corporation; or
- (ii) it is a subsidiary of a subsidiary of that other corporation.

A partnership is an "Affiliate" of a corporation if that corporation or any of its Affiliates are general partners of the partnership or limited partners which participate in the manner or control of the partnership.

2. CORPORATE SEAL

The seal, an impression whereof is stamped in the margin hereof, shall be the corporate seal of the Corporation.

[Seal]

3. HEAD OFFICE

The Head Office of the Corporation shall be in the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto in the Province of Ontario.

4. JURISDICTION

- (a) The operations of the Corporation shall be confined to the Province of Ontario.
- (b) Wherever the words "insurance brokerage" are used herein, they shall mean an entity, be it individual, partnership and/or corporation, registered as an insurance brokerage pursuant to the Registered Insurance Brokers Act, 1990 c.R.19.

5. OBJECTS

The objects of the Corporation shall be, subject to the provisions of any Statute or Regulation passed thereunder in that behalf for the time being in force:

- (i) To protect the interests of the insuring public;
- (ii) To promote the growth and advancement of the insurance business generally and the independent brokerage system in particular;
- (iii) To promote and protect the interests and well-being of its members;
- (iv) To provide educational and qualification courses;
- (v) To publish bulletins or newsletters in the interest of its members;
- (vi) To establish and maintain a Code of Ethics;
- (vii) And to enroll as members all insurance brokerages that meets the standards of qualification



6. HONORARY MEMBERSHIP

- (a) The Board of Directors may at any time confer Honourary Lifetime Membership with voting privileges on any individual who is a partner, shareholder and/or employee of an insurance brokerage.
- (b) The Board of Directors may at any time confer Honorary Membership without voting privileges for such a term as in their sole discretion they deem advisable on any individual.

7. QUALIFICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

(a) Any insurance brokerage, the members of which are of good character and reputation, and which meets the standards of qualification and subscribes to the Code of Ethics, and whose place of business is located in an area served by an Affiliate Association, and which wishes to become a member of the Corporation, shall make application to such Affiliate Association. Upon acceptance by that Affiliate Association, and such insurance brokerage satisfying such other requirements as are determined from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, such insurance brokerage shall, upon payment of the membership fee and assessment of the Corporation, if any, becomes an active member of the Corporation.

A condition precedent to such brokerage continuing its membership in the Corporation is that the brokerage continues as a member in good standing of such Affiliated Association and that such brokerage be up-to-date and in good standing in the payment of all fees and assessments, if any, imposed by the Corporation.

- (b) Any insurance brokerage whose place of business is located in an area served by an Affiliate Association, and wishes to become a member of the Corporation and whose application for membership has not been accepted by the Affiliate Association may make application to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Upon fulfillment of the other requirements enumerated in clause (a) above, and upon approval by the Board of Directors, after consultation with the declining Affiliate Association and payment of the Corporation's membership fee and assessment, if any, the applicant shall become an active member of the Corporation.
- (c) Any insurance brokerage whose office is located in an area not served by an Affiliate Association and which wishes to become a member of the Corporation shall make application to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Upon fulfillment of the requirements enumerated in clause (a) above, except membership in an Affiliate Association, the applicant shall become an active member of the Corporation.
- (d) Any individual insurance broker who is of good character and reputation, who subscribes to the Code of Ethics, who holds the designation of CAIB and/or CCIB and/or CPIB, who is a registered broker with RIBO and who works for (but has no beneficial interest in) a partnership or corporation which is not a member of the Corporation may make application for membership to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Upon fulfillment of the requirements enumerated in this clause (d), upon approval by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, and upon payment of the Corporation's applicable membership fee and assessment, if any, the applicant shall become a non-active member of the Corporation.
- (e) Notwithstanding clauses (a) to (c) of this Article, a condition precedent to initial membership and continuing membership in the Corporation is that each insurance brokerage shall advise the Corporation in writing at the time of membership application and/or renewal of membership, as the case may be, of the names of all of the individual brokers of the insurance brokerage who are licensed brokers pursuant to the "Registered Insurance Brokers Act".



- (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set out in these Administrative By-laws, membership or continuing membership, as the case may be, in the Corporation is not permitted (other than as an Affinity Member as provided in Article 7(g)) if an insurance brokerage:
 - (i) is a Financial Institution;
 - (ii) is controlled by a Financial Institution; and/or
 - (iii) has entered into agreements which prohibit the representation of other insurers or groups of insurers.
- (g) Insurance brokerages which are unable to meet the requirements as a result of Article 7(f) above, but which satisfy the requirements of Affinity Membership as determined by the Board of Directors from time to time may become Affinity Members, with no voting privileges.
- (h) Notwithstanding subparagraphs (a) to (c) of this paragraph 7, any insurance brokerage, the members of which are of good character and reputation, and which meet the standards of qualification and subscribes to the Code of Ethics, and which is furthermore a member of a member association of the Insurance Brokers Association of Canada (IBAC), may make application to the Board of Directors for membership in the Corporation. Such applicant is not required to be or become a member of an Affiliate Association.

Upon fulfillment of the other requirements enumerated in this subparagraph (h), and upon approval by the Board of Directors and the payment of the membership fee and assessment of the Corporation, if any, such insurance brokerage shall become an active member of the Corporation. A condition precedent to such brokerage continuing its membership in the Corporation pursuant to this subparagraph 7(h) is that the brokerage continues as a member in good standing of a member association of IBAC and that such brokerage be up to date and in good standing in the payment of all fees and assessments, if any, imposed by the Corporation.

8. PRIVILEGES

- (a) All active members, being all of the insurance brokerages (except Affinity Members) which are members of the Corporation, shall be entitled to equal rights and privileges.
- (b) Honorary Members without voting privileges shall not be eligible to be Directors of the Corporation and shall not have voting privileges.
- (c) Non-active members of the Corporation shall not be eligible to any rights or privileges as a member of the Corporation and shall not have any voting privileges, save and except that they shall be entitled to use their professional designation of CAIB and/or CCIB and/or CPIB (provided that such non-active member continuously meets all other requirements imposed with respect to the hold and use of the CAIB and/or CCIB and/or CPIB designations.)
- (d) To the extent that members of the Corporation are permitted to use the BIP logo, Affinity Members are specifically prohibited from using the BIP logo in any manner whatsoever. Such by law amendments to 8(d) shall not go into effect until April 1, 2008.

9. TERRITORIES AND TERRITORY DIRECTORS

(a) The Board of Directors shall divide the membership of the Corporation into Territories on the basis of the location of the place of business of each member. A schedule of Territories is annexed hereto as Schedule "A". The Board of Directors of the Corporation may, by resolution, redefine and/or change the boundaries of any Territory or Territories at any time and from time to time. Each Territory, through its Affiliate Association,



shall hold Territory meetings from time to time to name a person who shall be elected a Director of the Corporation to represent such Territory.

- (b) The Territory Meeting for the selection of a person to be elected a Territory Director of the Corporation shall be held at a General Meeting of the members of the applicable Territory called for that purpose. Such duly called and constituted meeting shall take place prior to the holding of the General meeting of the Corporation. If the validity of the selection of a person as a Territory Director is questioned, such challenge shall be in writing and submitted to the Chief Executive Officer within forty-eight (48) hours after the date on which such selection took place. Upon such challenge being submitted, all of the ballots at such selection meeting, together with all proxies, shall be forwarded to the Chief Executive Officer for tabulation and the decision of the Chief Executive Officer shall be considered final and binding on all parties.
- (c) To be eligible to vote at the territory meeting held to select a person to be elected as a Director of the Corporation, each member from the territory electing such Director must be represented at the territory meeting when the vote is taken by an individual designated in a special proxy for use at that territory meeting only, in a form designated and approved by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section 84 of the Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.C.38.
- (d) The nomination of a candidate for election as Territory Director shall be made by petition in writing signed by at least five (5) individual brokers from and on behalf of five (5) different members from that territory electing such Director and must be received by the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation at least sixty (60) days prior to the General Meeting of the Corporation.
- (e) The Board of Directors may by resolution fix a time not exceeding 48 hours, excluding Saturdays and holidays, preceding any meeting or adjourned meeting of territory members before which time proxies to be used at the territory meeting to elect such Territory Director must be deposited with the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, and any period of time so fixed shall be specified in the Notice calling the territory meeting or in the information circular relating thereto.
- (f) No person shall be nominated or elected as a Territory Director at the territory meeting under clause (b) of this article if that person is nominated as an officer of the Corporation for election at the General Meeting to be held the day after the territory meeting. Likewise no person shall be nominated or elected as an officer of the Corporation at such General Meeting if that person is nominated or elected as a Territory Director at the territory meeting under clause (b) of this article.

10. DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND COUNCIL

- (a) The affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be comprised of up to eighteen (18) individual brokers as more particularly set out in this Article 10 below.
- (b) No person shall be a Director who is not employed by a member of the Corporation and a person shall cease forthwith to be a Director upon ceasing to be employed by a member of the Corporation.
- (c) There shall be seven (7) officers of the Corporation; namely, President, President-Elect, First Vice-President, Second Vice-President, Chairman of the Board, Secretary and Chief Executive Officer. An officer, except the Chief Executive Officer who is not required to be employed by a member of the Corporation, shall cease forthwith to hold such office upon ceasing to be employed by a member of the Corporation.



- (d) Four of the Directors of the Corporation shall be the President, President-Elect, First Vice-President and Second Vice-President.
- (e) The Immediate Past President shall be elected a Director of the Corporation, a member of the Executive Committee of the Corporation (as identified in Article 12(b) of these By-laws and shall be Chairman of the Board
- (f) One (1) Director may be elected by the members of each of the territories, for a total of up to thirteen Directors. Expired terms will be filled annually by elections for up to three-year terms. Such Directors shall be known as Territory Directors.
- (g) The offices of Secretary and of Chief Executive Officer shall be filled by appointment by the Board of Directors. In its discretion the Board of Directors may appoint as Secretary or Chief Executive Officer a person who holds another office of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may appoint the same person to the offices of Secretary and Chief Executive Officer. If the Board of Directors do not fill the office of Secretary, the Chief Executive Officer so appointed shall also be appointed Secretary, and in such case the Secretary is not required to be a member of the Corporation.
- (h) The Board of Directors, together with the Presidents or other appointees of Affiliate Associations as approved by the Corporation's Board of Directors of the Affiliate Associations shall constitute the Council.
- (i) The Past Presidents of the Corporation shall constitute the Past Presidents Council.
- (j) Every Director and Officer of the Corporation, such person's heirs, executors, administrators, and estate shall from time to time and at all times be indemnified and saved harmless by the Corporation from and against all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever that such person sustains or incurs in or about any action, suit or proceeding that is brought, commenced or prosecuted against such person for or in respect of any act, deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done or permitted by such person, in or about the execution of the duties of such person's office; and from and against all other costs, charges and expenses that such person sustains or incurs in or about or in relation to the affairs of the Corporation, except such costs, charges or expenses as are occasioned by such person's own willful neglect or default.
- (k) The Board of Directors may meet by teleconference, provided that either a majority of the Board of Directors consents to a meeting by teleconference, or meetings by teleconference have been approved by resolution passed by the Board of Directors at a meeting of the Board of Directors.
- (I) The Board of Directors may meet by other electronic means that permit each Director to communicate adequately with each other, provided that:
 - (i) The Board of Directors have passed a resolution addressing the mechanics of holding such a meeting and dealing specifically with how security issues should be handled and the procedure for establishing a quorum and recording votes;
 - (ii) Each Director has equal access to the specific means of communication to be used; and
 - (iii) Each Director has consented in advance to meeting by electronic means using the specific means of communication proposed for that meeting."

11. DUTIES OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

(a) The President shall preside at all meetings of the Executive Committee. The President shall submit a report of the year's activities at each Annual and General Meeting and at each Mid-Year meeting of the



Corporation. In the absence of the President, the President-Elect or if the President-Elect is absent, the First Vice President shall preside at meetings of the Executive Committee.(b) The Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Chairman, the President or such Director appointed by the President shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors.

- (c) Any officer of the Corporation, as designated by the Executive Committee, shall preside at all other meetings of the Corporation.
- (d) The President-Elect and Vice-Presidents shall be responsible for such duties as may be assigned to them by the president or Board of Directors.
- (e) The Territory Directors shall each be responsible within their own territory for implementing the objectives and policies of the Corporation as may, from time to time, be decided by the Board of Directors.
- (e) The Chief Executive Officer shall be a person so appointed by the members of the Board of Directors and shall always be a person in respect of whom the Corporation can obtain a surety bond guaranteeing such person's favourable performance in all financial matters in which the Corporation shall be obliged. Such person shall perform such duties as may be assigned by the Board of Directors and shall cause the minutes of all meetings, including all meetings of Committees of the Corporation, to be kept, shall collect all moneys due to the Corporation and shall act as Secretary of all Committees of the Corporation. Such person shall be responsible to the Board of Directors for and have charge of all matters not otherwise provided for and shall perform all other duties incidental to such person's office. Such person shall submit to each annual meeting of the Corporation financial statements signed by the chartered accountant or certified public accountant as having been audited.
- (g) In case of a tie in voting on the Board of Directors, the President shall be entitled to cast a second and deciding vote.

12. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND COUNCIL

- (a) The Board of Directors may elect from among themselves an Executive Committee consisting of not fewer than three and delegate to the Executive Committee the power of the Board subject to such restrictions imposed from time to time by the Board.
- (b) The Council or Past Presidents Council or both shall be called into session as considered necessary by the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors to deal with all such matters as may be referred to them by the Board.

13. COMMITTEES

- (a) Standing and special committees shall be such as may be appointed from time to time by the President, the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors.
- (b) The Board of Directors shall, prior to March 31 each year, appoint a Nominating Committee composed of the Immediate Past-President as Chairperson, the President-Elect, and three Territory Directors who are not seeking election or appointment as an officer of the Corporation in the coming year.

14. NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

(a) The Nominating Committee shall, prior to May 31st of each year, submit to the Board of Directors its written list of candidates for the offices of President, President-Elect, First Vice-President and Second Vice President. The Board of Directors shall review such recommendations and shall, at least sixty (60) days



prior to the General Meeting, make a final determination of the candidates to be nominated for approval by the members of the Corporation at the next General Meeting.(b) Additional nominations of candidates for election to these offices may be made by petition in writing signed by at least thirty (30) individuals from and on behalf of at least thirty (30) insurance brokerages which are members of the Corporation, said petition received by the Chief Executive Officer at least sixty (60) days prior to the General Meeting and provided further that no person shall be nominated for election to more than one (1) office at any General Meeting or Special Meeting called for the purpose of electing Officers. The petition shall be in the form approved by the Chief Executive Officer for the Corporation.

- (c) The President, President-Elect, First Vice-President and Second Vice-President shall be elected at each General Meeting to serve for a term of one (I) year. No person shall be elected to any of these positions unless such person has been a member of the Board of Directors for at least one (I) year. The person holding office as President-Elect immediately prior to these elections at the General Meeting shall be elected President unless that person fails to qualify for office under Articles I0(b) and 25 of these By-laws or declines the nomination as President by notifying the Chief Executive Officer in writing.
- (d) Retiring Officers shall be eligible for immediate re-election as Officers of the Corporation. Retiring Territory Directors shall not be eligible for immediate re-election as Territory Directors, unless a retiring Territory Director was filling a vacancy as provided for in clause (e) of this article, or has obtained prior written consent from the Executive on behalf of the Board of Directors in which case that Territory Director shall be eligible for immediate re-election for one further term. Retiring Territory Directors shall be eligible for immediate election as Officers of the Corporation.
- (e) If any Officer or other Director dies or becomes unable to fulfill the duties of office, or if the Officer or Director ceases to be a member of an insurance brokerage which is a member of the Corporation or such Officer or Director ceases to be a member of such member insurance brokerage, the term of office for such Officer or Director shall terminate immediately, and the Board of Directors will fill the vacancy resulting thereby for the balance of the unexpired term by appointment. If the person so ceasing to be a Director is a Territory Director, such person's place shall be filled by an individual who is a member of a member insurance brokerage from the same territory.
- (f) If more than one year elapses between any two General Meetings the Officers and other Directors shall continue to hold office until the day of the later of such General Meetings.
- (g) At a General Meeting or a Special General Meeting called for the purpose of the election of Officers of the Corporation, the Chairperson of the Nominations Committee shall present the nominations for office as determined, pursuant to Article 14(a). If an election by ballot is required, the Chief Executive Officer shall conduct the election and shall have the authority to obtain the people necessary to so conduct the election in an efficient and orderly manner. Each candidate for election shall be allowed a scrutineer for the counting of the ballots. Each candidate will be allowed a maximum of I5 minutes for a presentation and/or address to the members assembled. The person receiving the highest number of votes for the position of President-Elect, First Vice-President and Second Vice-President shall be elected. If an election for President is required as a result of the failure of the President-Elect to step up to the office of President pursuant to Article 14(c), the person receiving the highest number of votes for the position of President shall be declared President.

15. MEETINGS

(a) The Corporation's Annual Meeting shall be held in or about the month of April, on such days and at such



place as may be determined by the Board of Directors and in any event within such period after the end of the Corporation's fiscal year as may from time to time be prescribed by law.(b) Special General Meetings may be called at any time by the Board of Directors of the Corporation or shall be called by them upon written request of ten 10 members of the Council or one hundred (100) members of the Corporation, said meeting to be called as promptly as possible, but within thirty days after receipt of such request.

- (c) Meetings of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Council or Committees shall be held when and where it shall be deemed advisable by the Board, Executive Committee, Council or Committee, as the case may be.
- (d) At its discretion, the Board of Directors may cause to be paid expenses properly incurred by a member on behalf of the Corporation, or in and about its business.
- (e) Ten (10) days' notice, inclusive of the day of the notice and day of the meeting, shall be given in writing to all officers or members, (except for Annual, General, or Special General Meetings, notice of which is to be pursuant to Article 17(a) herein) to which they may be called and the purpose of the meeting shall be stated in the notice calling the meeting. Accidental error or omission in giving notice of any meeting shall not invalidate any action or proceeding founded on such notice.
- (f) All meetings of the Corporation, including these meetings of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Council or Committees shall be conducted in accordance with the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Orders or any successor publication, unless inconsistent with these By-laws.
- (g) Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held from time to time at such place, at such time and on such day as the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Board or the President or any three Directors may determine, and the Secretary shall call meetings when directed or authorized by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Board or the President or any three Directors. Notice of every meeting so called shall be given to each director not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time when the meeting is to be held, except that no notice of a meeting shall be necessary if all of the Directors are present, or if those absent have waived notice of or otherwise signify their consent to the holding of such meeting. A notice need not specify the purpose of the business to be transacted at a meeting except where the Corporations Act (Ontario) requires such purpose or business to be specified.

16. QUORUM

Seventy-five (75) members duly represented shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Corporation. Ten (10) Directors shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Board of Directors. Twenty-five (25) members of Council shall constitute a quorum of all meetings of the Council.

17. NOTICE OF MEETINGS OF THE MEMBERSHIP

(a) Notice of the time and place for the holding of an Annual, General or Special General Meeting of the members shall be given to each member by sending notice of the meeting by prepaid mail or by delivery by courier or by any means of pre-paid, transmitted or recorded communication, ten days or more before the date of the meeting, to the member's last address (physical or electronic, as the case may be) as shown on the books of the Corporation. A notice so delivered shall be deemed to have been given when it is delivered by courier to the recorded address; a notice so mailed shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in a post office or public mail box; and a notice so sent by means of transmitted or recorded communication shall be deemed to have been given when dispatched or delivered to the appropriate communication company or agency or its representative for dispatch.



(b) The notice calling the meeting shall incorporate the full text of all by-laws or special resolutions to be placed before the membership for confirmation, together with the names of all candidates nominated to any position for which an election is to be held at the meeting.

18. VOTING AT MEETINGS OF THE MEMBERSHIP

- (a) Each active member in good standing with the Corporation, including any individual who is an Honourary Lifetime Member with voting privileges, but specifically excluding Honourary Members without voting privileges and Affinity Members, may cast one (1) vote on each motion, resolution, election or other matter voted upon at any Annual, General or Special General Meeting of the Corporation.
- (b) Each person who is, at the time of voting, employed by an active member of the Corporation and duly licensed as an insurance broker and in good standing pursuant to the Registered Insurance Brokers Act, may cast one (1) vote on each motion, resolution, election or other matter voted upon at any Annual, General or Special General Meeting of the Corporation.
- (c) To be eligible to vote at an Annual, General or Special General Meeting of the Corporation, each member or individual, as the case may be, must be personally present at the meeting when the vote is taken, or represented by a proxy pursuant to Section 84 of the Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c.C.38.
- (d) Voting shall be by show of hands unless a ballot is demanded by a member or individual entitled to vote on that matter, prior to the vote being taken.

19. MEMBERSHIP FEES AND ASSESSMENTS

- (a) The annual active membership fee and any assessment to be levied on the members of the Corporation shall be such amounts as shall be from time to time approved at an Annual, General or Special General Meeting of the Corporation. Notice of any proposed change in membership fees or assessment shall be given to the members a minimum of thirty days prior to any Annual, General or Special General Meeting.
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, should the Board of Directors decide, unanimously in writing, or by a two-thirds majority of those present at a duly constituted meeting of the Board of Directors, that for special reason there shall be an increase or decrease in membership fees or the levying of an assessment, it may so order; and such order shall be effective immediately and shall stand until the next Annual Meeting, or General Meeting or Special General Meeting called for the purpose of considering it.

20. FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be from the first day of January to the last day of December of the same year.

21. MEMBERSHIP YEAR

The Membership Year shall be concurrent with the fiscal year of the Corporation.

22. PAYMENT OF MEMBERSHIP FEES OR DUES

- (a) A member may pay for annual membership fees or dues in accordance with any payment plan which may, from time to time, be approved by the Board of Directors.
- (b) Any member who is thirty (30) days in arrears in payment of any assessment, or in payment of any



annual membership fees where such member pays on a once-yearly basis, shall be so notified by the Chief Executive Officer, and thirty (30) days after date of mailing or delivery by courier to member of notification of arrears, such member shall cease to be a member of the Corporation and the Chief Executive Officer shall cause such member's name to be struck from the roll of members of the Corporation. (c) Any member who is fourteen (14) days in arrears in payment of annual membership fees where such member pays membership fees under any payment plan other than once yearly as approved by the Board of Directors, shall be so notified by the Chief Executive Officer and fourteen (14) days after date of mailing by registered mail or delivery by courier to the member of notification of arrears, such member shall cease to be a member of the Corporation and the Chief Executive Officer shall cause such member's name to be struck from the roll of members of the Corporation.

23. BANKING

- (a) All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited to the credit of the Corporation in a banking institution to be named by the Board of Directors and shall be withdrawable in accordance with such means as is permissible by the bank institution where such withdrawal is authorized by two (2) persons authorized by the Corporation to complete such withdrawal in accordance with such banking practices as are required by the Corporation's banking institution.
- (b) The persons authorized to sign for such withdrawals, including cheques, for the Corporation shall be those persons authorized for the purpose from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors.

24. BORROWING

The Directors of the Corporation are hereby authorized from time to time:

- (a) To borrow money upon the credit of the Corporation in such amounts and on such terms as may be deemed expedient by obtaining loans or advances or by way of overdraft or otherwise;
- (b) To issue debt obligations of the Corporation;
- (c) To pledge or sell such debt obligations for such sums and at such prices as may be deemed expedient;
- (d) To mortgage, hypothecate, charge or pledge, or give security in any manner whatever upon all or any currently owned or subsequently acquired property, real and personal, immovable and movable, undertaking, book debts, powers, franchises and rights of the Corporation, to secure any debt obligations of the Corporation, present or future, or any money borrowed or to be borrowed or any other debt or liability of the Corporation, present or future;
- (e) To delegate to such Officer(s) or Director(s) of the Corporation as the Directors may designate all or any of the foregoing powers to such extent and in such manner as the Directors may determine.

25. SUSPENSION OF MEMBERS

- (a) In the event that an act of or the general conduct of a member be detrimental to or generally contrary to the interest and welfare of the Corporation or of the insuring public, membership may be terminated by the Board of Directors in the following manner.
- (b) After the Board has made due investigation of the matter and has afforded the member an opportunity to be heard, the Chief Executive Officer shall notify the member by registered mail or by courier of the Board's decision.
- (c) Should the member wish to appeal that termination of membership, such member shall so notify the



Chief Executive Officer in writing not more than fourteen (14) days after the date of the said notice, and if no such notice of appeal be received within the said fourteen (14) days, the membership shall terminate, with no right to refund of all or part of any fee or assessment paid, with effect on and from the date of the said notice.(d) If such notice of appeal be received within the said fourteen days, the Board shall appoint a Special Committee of five persons, two of whom shall be Past Presidents and none of whom shall be a member of the Board, to deal with the appeal. The member shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard before the said Committee and may on such occasion be represented by a solicitor if such person so desires and may present the evidence of witnesses.

(e) The decision of that Special Committee shall be final.

26. PAST PRESIDENTS

All Past Presidents of the Corporation shall automatically become Honorary Lifetime Members with voting privileges.

27. AFFILIATE ASSOCIATIONS

- (a) The Board of Directors may by resolution recognize as an Affiliate Association a body corporate, which meets the requirements to be an Affiliate Association.
- (b) The Board of Directors shall, in a resolution passed pursuant to subparagraph (a), specify the territory boundaries of the Affiliate Association.
- (c) The requirements to be an Affiliate Association are:
 - (i) The Affiliate Association must be incorporated pursuant to the Corporations Act (Ontario) or the Canada Corporations Act.
 - (ii) The Affiliate Association must provide in its Letters Patent, Articles of Incorporation or By-laws that:
 - 1. No entity (be that a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation) may be a member of an Affiliate Association who is not also a member of the Insurance Brokers Association of Ontario;
 - No such entity may be a member of an Affiliate Association where such entity has places of business within more than one territory over which more than one Affiliate Association has responsibility, unless such entity either;
 - (A) joins only one of the Affiliate Associations having responsibility for one of the territories in which such entity has a place of business and pays dues to that one Affiliate Association based on all of the entity's licensed brokers, regardless of which territory the entity's places of business are located: or
 - (B) joins each Affiliate Association having responsibility for the territory in which such entity has a place of business, on the basis of the number of licensed brokers employed by such entity within the territory of such Affiliate Association so joined.

Such by law amendments to Article 27(c) shall not go into effect until April 1, 2009.

28. DISSOLUTION OR WINDING UP

In the event of dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, all its remaining assets after payment of its liabilities shall be distributed to one or more registered charitable organizations in Canada, as defined under the Provisions of the Income Tax Act of Canada.

